

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



DRUG DELIVERY Reviews

Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 60 (2008) 915-928

www.elsevier.com/locate/addr

Nanotechnology in vaccine delivery $\stackrel{\scriptstyle \checkmark}{\sim}$

Laura J. Peek^{a,b}, C. Russell Middaugh^a, Cory Berkland^{a,b,*}

^a Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, University of Kansas, Lawrence, KS, 66047 USA ^b Department of Chemical and Petroleum Engineering, University of Kansas, Lawrence, KS, 66047 USA

> Received 29 March 2007; accepted 1 May 2007 Available online 7 February 2008

Abstract

With very few adjuvants currently being used in marketed human vaccines, a critical need exists for novel immunopotentiators and delivery vehicles capable of eliciting humoral, cellular and mucosal immunity. Such crucial vaccine components could facilitate the development of novel vaccines for viral and parasitic infections, such as hepatitis, HIV, malaria, cancer, *etc.* In this review, we discuss clinical trial results for various vaccine adjuvants and delivery vehicles being developed that are approximately nanoscale (<1000 nm) in size. Humoral immune responses have been observed for most adjuvants and delivery platforms while only viral vectors, ISCOMs and Montanide™ ISA 51 and 720 have shown cytotoxic T cell responses in the clinic. MF59 and MPL[®] have elicited Th1 responses, and virus-like particles, non-degradable nanoparticles and liposomes have also generated cellular immunity. Such vaccine components have also been evaluated for alternative routes of administration with clinical successes reported for intranasal delivery of viral vectors and proteosomes and oral delivery of a VLP vaccine. Published by Elsevier B.V.

Keywords: Adjuvant; Immunopotentiator; Humoral immunity; Cellular immunity; Immunization; Nanoparticle; Antigen

Contents

1.	. Introduction		16
2.	Nanoparticulate vaccine adjuvants and delivery systems		17
	2.1.	Viral-vectored vaccines	17
	2.2.	Virus-like particles and virosomes	17
	2.3.	MF59	18
	2.4.	Immunostimulating complexes	18
	2.5.	Monophosphoryl lipid A	19
	2.6.	Calcium phosphate nanoparticles	19
	2.7.	Polymeric nanoparticles	19
	2.8.	Non-degradable nanoparticles	20
	2.9.	Liposomes	20
	2.10.	Proteosomes	21
	2.11.	Montanide [™]	21
	2.12.	Cholesterol-bearing hydrophobized pullulan nanoparticles	21
3.			21
4.	Note ac	lded in proof	22
References		22	

th This review is part of the Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews theme issue on "Clinical Developments in Drug Delivery Nanotechnology".

^{*} Corresponding author. 2030 Becker Dr., Lawrence, KS, 66047 USA. Tel.: +1 785 864 1455; fax: +1 785 864 1454. *E-mail address:* berkland@ku.edu (C. Berkland).

1. Introduction

The creation of vaccines is one of medicine's most important accomplishments. Their influence on humanity is aptly expressed by vaccinologist Stanley Plotkin when he says:

"The impact of vaccination on the health of the world's peoples is hard to exaggerate. With the exception of safe water, no other modality, not even antibiotics, has had such a major effect on mortality reduction and population growth." [1]

Diseases such as measles, mumps, rubella, diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, *Haemophilus influenzae* type b (Hib) disease, polio and yellow fever are now under control because of vaccination [1]. Smallpox has been completely eradicated [1,2] and polio is on the verge of elimination [3], thanks to aggressive vaccination campaigns. Other diseases, including influenza, hepatitis B virus (HBV) and pneumococcal infection are being at least partially controlled by vaccines, but there is still much that needs to be done to eliminate many such diseases, even in the developed world [1].

Throughout history, most vaccines have been developed using live attenuated organisms, killed whole organisms or inactivated toxins (referred to as toxoids). Live vaccines, such as smallpox, polio (oral), measles, mumps, rubella, varicella and adenovirus (and others), have the advantage of producing both humoral and cellular immunity and often require only one boost. Disadvantages of live vaccines include a serious risk of reverting back to their virulent form and intrinsic instability, making them difficult to deliver. Killed or inactivated whole organism vaccines (such as influenza, hepatitis A and others) as well as toxoid vaccines (including diphtheria and tetanus) generate a weaker immune response and typically require multiple doses [1,4].

Recent efforts have focused on utilizing technologies such as recombinant DNA methods to develop DNA and subunit vaccines, as well as conjugate vaccines in which a weak antigen is linked to a stronger immunogen such as a protein or membrane complex. The vaccine against Hib, responsible for nearly eliminating Hib meningitis from infants and young children [1,5] is an example of a conjugate vaccine. DNA vaccines, which contain a gene or genes encoding a particular antigen(s), have so far only been licensed for veterinary use. They have, however, shown promise as vaccines against a wide variety of diseases including tuberculosis [6,7], SARS [8-10] and HIV-1 [11,12]. Subunit vaccines use a portion of the pathogen such as an individual protein as the antigen. These vaccines are attractive because of their increased safety since they cannot revert to a virulent form and their lack of contaminants remaining from the original pathogenic organism. Additionally, the ability to consistently produce large, well defined quantities of antigen from recombinant methods is highly desirable [1,13].

With the development of these new types of vaccines, there exists a critical need for additional delivery vehicles as well as new adjuvants. In many cases, the antigen itself is only very weakly immunogenic; therefore, an adjuvant is needed to intensify the immune response. Adjuvants can also be included in vaccines to guide the type of immune response generated [14,15]. This may be especially important when developing vaccines for cancer [16], HIV [17] or mucosal immunizations [18]. In contrast, a more immunogenic antigen may benefit from a specific delivery vehicle [14]. This component may facilitate targeting and/or controlled release of the antigen to antigen presenting cells. Recent studies utilizing Toll-like receptor ligands have shown that antigens associated with these ligands can produce exceptionally high antibody titers and rapid immune responses [19]. Adjuvants and delivery vehicles have also been shown to protect antigens from degradation, although this generally depends on the nature of adjuvant. For example, while chitosan–alginate nanoparticles were found to stabilize ovalbumin [20], other studies have shown that model protein antigens are actually destabilized by traditional aluminum salt adjuvants [21,22].

Currently, only very few vaccine adjuvants are licensed for use in humans. Although both MF59 and aluminum salts have been approved in Europe, only aluminum salts have been used in licensed human vaccines in the United States [23]. Billions of doses of vaccines containing aluminum salts have been shown to elicit early, high and long lasting antibody titers after a single immunization [24]. Despite their frequent, global use for many decades, the mode of action of aluminum salt adjuvants is not well understood. At least three potential mechanisms are frequently described in the literature [25,26]. One idea is that the formation of a depot at the site of injection allows the antigen to be released gradually, thereby extending the time possible for the antigen to interact with antigen presenting cells and lymphocytes [27,28].

A second proposed mechanism is attributed to the particulate nature of the aluminum salts. Because particles smaller than 10 µm are more easily phagocytosed by macrophages and dendritic cells [29,30], uptake of the antigen adsorbed to a particulate adjuvant should be increased (relative to antigen in solution) thereby improving the efficiency of antigen recognition and presentation. The third suggested mechanism of action is by a direct stimulation of the immune system through enhanced cytokine production. More specifically, aluminum salt adjuvants are known to primarily stimulate a humoral response by increasing production of Th2 cytokines [24]. While enhancement of Th2 cytokine production may be favorable for the treatment of some extracellular infections, a cellular immune response may be preferred for immunization against other disease states (e.g., HIV, malaria, cancer, etc.). A fourth mechanism of action was recently proposed after studies revealed a destabilization of proteins adsorbed to aluminum salt adjuvants: the structural perturbations that occur upon adsorption may, in fact, increase the antigen's susceptibility to proteolytic processing by the immune system, leading to enhanced antigen presentation [21].

Besides a bias in the type of immune response elicited by aluminum salt adjuvants, other disadvantages of their use include instability to freezing and drying [23,31,32] and inconsistencies in producing humoral immunity [24]. Additionally, despite maintaining a good safety profile for more than seven decades, there have still been safety concerns regarding the use of aluminum salts. Although the evidence is conflicting, symptoms such as erythema, allergic responses, hypersensitivity to contact, granulomatous inflammation and subcutaneous nodules as well as macrophagic myofascitis have been reported for patients who received an aluminum salt-containing vaccine [29,33,34]. Due to the infrequent occurrence of these side effects, the verdict remains that aluminum salts exhibit a particularly good safety profile.

While aluminum salts offer an appropriate immune enhancement for some types of vaccines, they are clearly not adequate for all. A critical need exists for alternative immunopotentiators and antigen delivery agents. With the current trend toward "going small," many efforts to develop novel adjuvants have focused on systems at the micro- and nanoscale.

Particulate systems on the order of a micron in size offer several advantages for vaccine delivery [35,36]. For example, microparticles are approximately the same size as many pathogens that the immune system is equipped to attack [37]. Additionally, larger particles generally provide a longer duration of antigen release than equivalent smaller ones, which can have a dramatic influence on immunogenicity [30,38–40]. Moreover, microparticles have been shown to elicit both vigorous cellular [41] and humoral immunity [42].

Smaller particles on the order of 10–1000 nm in size pursued as vaccine delivery systems and immunopotentiators are the focus of this review. An additional characteristic shared by the nanosystems discussed herein is that they have all been at least preliminarily tested in the clinic (with the exception of polymeric nanoparticles).

2. Nanoparticulate vaccine adjuvants and delivery systems

2.1. Viral-vectored vaccines

Viral-vectored vaccines consist of a non-replicating virus that contains some defined genetic material from the pathogen to which immunity is desired. Such vaccines are also commonly referred to as live recombinant vaccines [43]. Since the immune system has evolved to respond to viruses, this would seem to be an ideal way to deliver an antigen. Advantages of virally-vectored vaccines include their ease of production, a good safety profile (at least in some cases), ability to potentiate strong immune responses, potential for nasal or epicutaneous delivery and mucosal immunization [44–46]. In cases where viral-vectored vaccines have been compared to DNA vaccines, the viral vectors have been shown to significantly enhance immunogenicity [47–50].

Adenovirus, which has been administered orally as its own vaccine for decades, has also provided a frequent vector platform for many of these types of vaccines, including delivery systems for Alzheimer's disease [51], influenza [44], tetanus [45] and HIV [52,53] based vaccines. Such systems are also being used for alternative routes of administration (i.e., not the parenteral route, which is typically used for immunization). A recent phase I clinical trial of an adenovirus-vectored flu vaccine administered intranasally and epicutaneously was found to elicit high serum antibody titers with a good safety profile [44]. This study was the first of its kind to show that adenovirus-vectored vaccines are safe

for intranasal and epicutaneous administration in humans. Preclinical studies of an adenovirus-vectored tetanus vaccine reported similar results [45].

In addition to adenovirus, a variety of other vectors have shown success in both preclinical and clinical studies. A modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) was well-tolerated and produced a good safety profile in humans infected with HIV-1 undergoing highly active anti-retroviral therapy (HAART) [54]. Additionally, a canarypox vector was used for expression of a cytomegalovirus (CMV) antigen [55]. The resultant clinical results manifested a specific cytotoxic T cell (CTL) response, which is especially important for developing immunity to intracellular viral pathogens [56]. This was the first vaccine to produce this effect for CMV [55]. Preclinical studies have also shown promise for use of CMV as a vector for an immunocontraception vaccine [57] and yellow fever virus as a vector for expression of dengue virus envelope genes [58]. Additional viral-vector technologies that are currently being pursued for vaccine delivery include poxviruses, measles virus, vesicular stomatitis virus [59], HSV and alphavirus [60], among others.

Immune responses generated by virally-vectored vaccines have been found to increase when a prime-boost regimen is employed. Such a procedure involves priming the immune system with one vectored vaccine (often a DNA vector) and boosting with the same pathogen's genetic material in another type of vector or a recombinant protein. While this approach has been successful for HIV vaccines in monkeys, it has not worked well in humans for HIV immunization [61-63] until recently. A clinical study published last year demonstrated that a primeboost regimen HIV vaccine employing DNA and MVA resulted in "multifunctional HIV-1-specific T cells capable of rapid proliferation in eight out of eight vaccine recipients" [47,64]. A malaria vaccine administered using this dosing regimen also showed promise in the clinic [48,50]. Preclinical trials of viralvectored vaccines used to immunize against tuberculosis [65], Ebola [66] and SIV [67] using a prime-boost strategy also appear promising.

In virtually all cases, the prime-boost regimen has resulted in strong T cell and/or IFN- γ responses, leading to its current status as an especially promising technology.

2.2. Virus-like particles and virosomes

Virus-like particles (VLPs) and virosomes also use nature's own mechanism and structural principles to trigger the immune system for protective effects. Like viral-vectored vaccines, these macromolecular complexes stimulate an immune response by delivering a material that mimics certain viral properties. VLPs are essentially non-infective viruses consisting of selfassembled viral envelope proteins without the accompanying genetic material. In the case of virosomes, the envelope of one virus is used as a platform to which additional components of the virus or another virus or pathogen are attached or inserted [68,69]. Both types of particles maintain a morphology and cellpenetrating ability similar to infective viral particles [70]. VLPs and virosomes have also been shown to stimulate both cellular and humoral immunity [69,71,72]. A number of virosome-based vaccines have already reached the market. The first of these was EpaxalTM, a hepatitis A vaccine registered in 1994 by Berna Biologics Ltd. (Bern, Switzerland) in several European, Asian and South American countries [24,68]. The same company also licensed an influenza vaccine, Inflexal[®] V in Switzerland in 1997, which is now available in 25 countries [73]. Another flu vaccine utilizing virosomes is Invivac[®], which is registered in the Netherlands and Switzerland [70,72]. NasalFlu[®], an intranasal flu virosome vaccine that was coadministered with native *E. coli* heat-labile enterotoxin (LT) as a mucosal adjuvant, was marketed in Switzerland by Berna in 2001, but was removed from the market after an increased occurrence of Bell's Palsy was observed in people who had recently received the vaccine [70].

Additionally, several recombinant HBV VLP vaccines have been licensed. The first licensed recombinant HBV vaccines, Recombivax (Merck) and Engerix-B (GSK), were composed of the viral small envelope protein, which upon expression in yeast formed 22 nm VLPs [69,74]. While these were effective, they suffered from a lack of immunogenicity (\sim 5–10% nonresponders), which was determined to be due to an absence of Pre-S epitopes on the surface of the VLPs [75]. A more immunogenic VLP vaccine was subsequently described that contained Pre-S1, Pre-S2 and HBV surface antigen [75]. This potential third generation HBV vaccine, BioHepB was found to elicit a strong antibody response and 100% seroconversion and seroprotection rates [76,77], although it has yet to reach the market.

The most recently approved VLP vaccine is Gardasil[®] for immunization against human papillomavirus (HPV) and subsequent prevention of cervical cancer and genital warts. This vaccine is composed primarily of self-assembled particles of L1 (the major capsid protein) from HPV types 6, 11, 16 and 18 [78–80] and also contains an aluminum salt adjuvant. It has been shown to reduce infection of HPV by 90% and is apparently almost 100% effective against these types [80]. Since two of the four antigens in the HPV vaccine (HPV types 16 and 18) are implicated in 70% of cervical cancers [81], this vaccine is expected to drastically reduce the occurrence of this life threatening disease in women and has subsequently generated significant excitement [80,81].

Several other VLP vaccines have made it into the clinic. A Norwalk virus vaccine has shown humoral, mucosal and cellular immune responses when administered orally suggesting that VLPs may be useful for delivery of vaccines for mucosal immunization [82]. Another study showed that a small peptide of the Der p1 allergen covalently attached to a Q β bacteriophage VLP was well-tolerated and generated high antibody titers in humans [83].

Additionally, a malaria vaccine composed of a VLP of HBV core antigen containing proteins from the circumsporozoite stage of the *Plasmodium* parasite was shown to produce significant humoral and cellular immune responses when formulated with Alhydrogel[®] [84]. Further studies revealed that a single dose of this vaccine administered with Montanide ISA 720 (see below) was as immunogenic as results produced by multiple immunizations of the Alhydrogel-adsorbed vaccine [85]. Similarly, a

recombinant hybrid p17/p24:Ty VLP used for HIV immunization was found to produce both cellular and humoral immune responses to both components included in the VLP [86].

A variety of other VLP vaccines have been evaluated in preclinical studies and are tabulated in a 2006 *Methods* publication by Grgacic, et al. This table provides a comprehensive summary of the uses of VLPs in vaccines and their status in development [69]. Among those listed in preclinical studies are VLPs for influenza, hepatitis C virus (HCV), Ebola virus, rotavirus and SARS coronavirus [69].

2.3. MF59

While other vaccine delivery vehicles have been included in licensed vaccine formulations, MF59 is the only nano-sized vaccine *adjuvant* approved for human use thus far, although it is not yet licensed in the United States. MF59 is an oil-in-water emulsion composed of <250 nm droplets formed when squalene (4.3% v/v) and two surfactants, polysorbate 80 (0.5% v/v, Tween 80) and sorbitan trioleate (0.5% v/v, Span 85) are emulsified in citrate buffer [87,88]. The strong immunogenicity enhancement of MF59 is clearly seen in preclinical data published by Ott et al. [87]. They reported that guinea pigs showed a 34-fold increase in antibody titers when immunized with glycoprotein D of herpes simplex virus (HSV) type 2 in the presence of MF59 compared to aluminum hydroxide, while goat and baboon showed 9- and 5-fold increases, respectively [87]. The mechanism of adjuvanticity of MF59 is believed to be through direct stimulation of cytokine production [24,87-89].

Similar results have also been observed in the clinic. For vaccines against HIV, HSV and CMV, antibody titers measured in seronegative patients were often greater than those of infected, seropositive patients [87,90–92]. Additionally, strong helper T cell responses were also detected in seronegative patients as a result of the vaccination [87,89,91,93]. An MF59-adjuvanted influenza vaccine, Fluad[®], licensed in Europe [24,93–95] as well as experimental vaccines for avian influenza A/H9N2 virus [96] and HBV [97] produced similar behavior in the clinic. Based on these and other studies, the safety, tolerability and adjuvanticity of MF59 in humans seem to be well established.

While these studies evaluated the vaccine delivered parenterally, another clinical study evaluated the immunogenicity of an MF59-adjuvanted flu vaccine administered intranasally (IN). This vaccine also was well-tolerated. The results indicated that a mucosal immune response may be generated upon IN administration, but this route may not be optimal for eliciting a humoral immune response [98]. This study, however, found no enhanced potency of the vaccine in the presence of MF59 compared to unadjuvanted vaccine when administered IN [98].

2.4. Immunostimulating complexes

Another vaccine delivery vehicle with potent adjuvant activity being studied in the clinic is the immunostimulating complex (ISCOM). These are \sim 40 nm cage-like particles

produced by combining a protein antigen, cholesterol, phospholipid and the saponin adjuvant Quil A, which is derived from the bark of the South American *Quillaia saponaria* Molina tree [99–101]. The matrix that is formed traps the protein antigens (typically hydrophobic membrane proteins) through apolar interactions [23,24,23,99,102,103]. A similar vaccine delivery vehicle and adjuvant has also been developed that uses the same material minus the antigen and is referred to as ISCOMATRIX[®] [104]. The antigen can be added later to the ISCOMATRIX[®] during formulation of the vaccine. This material seems to work similarly to ISCOMs, but provides for more general applications by removing the requirement for hydrophobic antigens [104].

A clinical study that compared a classical trivalent flu vaccine with an ISCOM adjuvanted version composed of the same three virus strains revealed a stronger immune response with the ISCOM vaccine eliciting rapid antibody responses as well as T helper and some CTL responses [105]. A separate study of an ISCOM based flu vaccine showed that virus-specific CTL memory was achieved in 50-60% of the patients, compared to only 5% who received the standard flu vaccine [106]. Additional ISCOM/ISCOMATRIX® vaccines have been in the clinic for HIV [102], HSV [102], HPV [100,107], HCV [100,108] and cancer (utilizing NY-ESO-1 as the antigen) [109]. In all cases, the studies have shown a good safety and tolerability profile in humans [106,107,110,111] as well as induction of both humoral and cellular immune responses [100,106,111]. Despite these successes, the actual use of ISCOMs in human vaccines has been deterred by concerns regarding safety since some saponins are toxic at elevated levels [102]. Nevertheless, certain saponins, such as Quil A and QS-21 have not shown major signs of toxicity in humans at the doses administered [102,106,111].

When administered IN in mice, flu ISCOM vaccines were found to elicit strong mucosal (IgG and IgA) responses as well as systemic and CTL responses [103,112]. A similar result was also observed in sheep [113] and baboons [104], but the titers were much lower than those detected in mice [104]. Oral administration of ISCOM vaccines has also been shown to be effective, but this route requires the use of high and frequent dosing [104,114]. A study in sheep also indicated that ISCOM vaccines may be able to elicit strong mucosal immune responses when administered in the pelvic presacral space, which could be useful for immunization against viral infections of the female genital tract [115].

2.5. Monophosphoryl lipid A

Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL[®]) is an immunostimulating TLR-4 receptor agonist [116] composed of detoxified lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from *Salmonella minnesota* R595 [24,117]. LPS, a major component of the cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria, is a strong adjuvant, but is highly toxic [118]. Its toxicity has been attributed to the lipid A region of the molecule [24,119]. After detoxification, the resulting MPL[®] maintains adjuvanticity and is a versatile vaccine adjuvant that may be either included in aqueous formulations or in an oil-in-water emulsion for a more dynamic response [120]. A phase I study of an HIV vaccine in healthy volunteers showed high antibody titers similar to that of infected individuals for individuals administered the MPL[®]-containing vaccine, but these were not found to be neutralizing. Importantly, a large percentage of patients receiving the emulsion with MPL[®] in this study reported adverse events, suggesting that this adjuvant may not be well-tolerated under some circumstances [121].

Novel adjuvants/delivery vehicles containing MPL® have also been developed. For example, AS04 and AS02A are adjuvants developed by GlaxoSmithKline that consist of combinations of MPL® and either aluminum salts or OS-21, a purified component of the Quil A described above. These combinations have been in the clinic for a variety of vaccines, including ones for HSV, HBV, Streptococcus pneumoniae, malaria and HPV [24,116,117,122]. Furthermore, AS04 is now used in the European-licensed HBV vaccine, Fendrix[®] [24,122]. AS04 has been shown to enhance the humoral response (characteristic of aluminum salts) but also induces a strong Th1 cell-mediated response (characteristic of MPL®) [122]. Another combination adjuvant known as DETOX[™] contains MPL® and Mycobacterium phlei cell wall skeletons in a squalene emulsion and has been used in the clinic for melanoma [123], ovarian cancer [124], breast cancer [125] and is included in the Canadian-licensed Melacine® for late-stage melanoma. Such MPL®-containing vaccine formulations have been found to enhance both cellular and humoral immune responses with minimal toxicity (depending on the antigen) relative to non-MPL[®] formulations [122,123,126].

2.6. Calcium phosphate nanoparticles

Nanoparticles can be generated by combining (while stirring) calcium chloride, sodium phosphate and sodium citrate [127,128]. Since calcium phosphate is naturally occurring in the body, issues surrounding the safety of these materials are reduced [129,130]. Not to be confused with the calcium phosphate gel adjuvant used in the European diphtheriapertussis-tetanus (DPT) vaccine formulations [130,131], calcium phosphate nanoparticles are less than $\sim 1.2 \,\mu m$ (<1000 nm according to He et al., 2000) in diameter [127,128]. BioSante Pharmaceuticals has been developing this "CaP" technology. A phase I study in healthy volunteers showed that CaP was safe and non-toxic when administered subcutaneously [132]. Preclinical studies indicated that vaccines containing CaP resulted in immune responses similar to or greater than those adjuvanted with aluminum salts, and the duration of the response was longer [128,133]. Additionally, CaP has shown promise as a mucosal adjuvant. Studies in mice utilizing an HSV-2 antigen suggest that CaP administered IN or intravaginally can elicit protective systemic and mucosal immunity [127]. Vaccines utilizing CaP in preclinical studies include anthrax, HBV, flu (H5N1 avian and seasonal) and HSV-2 [127,133].

2.7. Polymeric nanoparticles

A variety of polymers exist from which nanoparticles for drug delivery can be synthesized; however, the most commonly studied

polymers are poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) (PLG) and polylactide (PLA) [134]. These biodegradable, biocompatible polymers have been approved for use in humans (e.g., as sutures, bone implants and screws as well as implants for sustained drug delivery) and have been extensively studied for use in the formulation of vaccine antigens (i.e., proteins, peptides, DNA, etc.) [134-136]. In these formulations, antigen can be either entrapped or adsorbed to the surface of the particles. Furthermore, these particles can be tailored to degrade over a range of rates [134]. They can therefore act as a depot from which the encapsulated antigen is gradually released [134]. Additionally, polymeric particles may offer protection to encapsulated antigens delivered orally and facilitate uptake by Mcells in the nasal-associated lymphoid tissue (NALT) when administered nasally, thus serving as a vehicle for mucosal immunization [134,137,138]. Adsorbed antigen, however, may offer improved stability and activity over encapsulated antigen by avoiding exposure to organic solvents used during formulation and acidic pH conditions caused by degradation of the polymer [139].

Preclinical studies have shown that PLG nanoparticles can induce systemic antibody titers comparable to those of aluminum salts [134]. Additionally, a study using tetanus toxoid (TT) found that a synergistic immune response (i.e., four-fold higher mean serum anti-TT IgG response) could be achieved by injecting TT bound to an aluminum salt along with TT-loaded nanoparticles [134,140]. Another study showed that PLG nanoparticles loaded with MPL® and a cancer-associated antigen (MUC1 mucin peptide) were efficiently taken up by dendritic cells [141]. These materials have not entered the clinic for vaccine applications, and therefore, will not be discussed in any greater detail here.

2.8. Non-degradable nanoparticles

In contrast to biodegradable nanoparticles, various nondegradable nanoparticles are being evaluated for their uses as vaccine adjuvants and delivery systems. Among the materials that are being examined are gold, latex, silica and polystyrene [16]. Since these materials may remain in the tissues for extended periods of time, it is thought that the antigen may be presented to the immune system over similar time periods thereby enhancing immunogenicity. Gold particles have been frequently described for vaccine delivery both with and without the aid of electroporation, which has been shown to often dramatically enhance the potency of DNA vaccines by improving delivery into cellular interiors [142]. Combining electroporation with intradermal delivery of DNA and gold particles, an enhanced and accelerated immune response has been observed in mice [143]; however, electroporation may not be applicable in a human clinical setting due to cell mortality resulting from the high-voltage electrical pulses [144]. A study in humans using these particles without electroporation produced a relatively low response rate after vaccination with DNA-gold particle granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) transfected autologous tumor cells [145].

An alternative approach to delivering DNA vaccines employing non-degradable nanoparticles is through particle bombardment, also referred to as particle-mediated epidermal delivery (PMED) or the "gene gun" approach [146,147]. This method involves ballistically firing the DNA-coated gold nanoparticles into the epidermis [147,148]. While the delivery efficiency of this technique is quite low, only small amounts of DNA are required to achieve a significant immune response [147,149]. Clinical trials have shown that this approach can elicit both humoral and cellular immune responses, making it one of the only consistently successful DNA vaccine delivery approaches currently available [146]. Success based on ballistic methods has been observed for vaccines against HBV, influenza and malaria, the latter of which involved a prime-boost regimen [146].

2.9. Liposomes

Liposomes, which are sometimes classified as VLPs, are spherical entities composed of a phospholipid bilayer shell with an aqueous core. For this review, liposomes are considered to be composed of non-viral lipids (i.e., lipids not obtained passively from host cells in viral budding processes). For vaccine delivery, an antigen (or adjuvant) may be either encapsulated in the core of the liposome, buried within the lipid bilayer or adsorbed on the surface for presentation to antigen presenting cells [16,150,151]. These delivery vesicles are considered to be non-toxic when the phospholipids used in their preparation are found in mammalian cells, but the lipids themselves are relatively non-immunogenic. Thus, for vaccine purposes, these particles are considered most useful for *delivering* antigens and adjuvants [16].

In contrast, liposomes can be made immunogenic by modifying the surface of the particle by adding a ligand [16]. antigen [150] or another type of lipid. Nakanishi et al. demonstrated that cationic liposomes are much more potent than anionic or neutral liposomes for generating a cell-mediated immune response [152]. An interesting preclinical study in mice conducted by Guan et al. evaluated the effect of the liposome formulation on the type of immune response generated for a MUC1 therapeutic cancer vaccine. This study revealed that liposome-associated (either encapsulated or surface-exposed) MUC1 peptide (BP25) produced a strong specific CTL response; however, an antibody response was only observed for the surface-associated BP25 formulation [153]. Clinical studies have confirmed that L-BLP25 (also known as Stimuvax®, a lyophilized, liposomal formulation of BP25 lipopeptide, MPL[®] and three lipids [154]) is well-tolerated and elicits a cellular immune response in patients with lung cancer [155]. Stimuvax[®] is being developed by Merck and Biomira for treatment of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), which accounts for $\sim 80\%$ of all lung cancers [156]. A phase IIB trial showed that the L-BLP25 vaccine increases survival rates for patients with smaller, nonmetastatic NSCLC tumors [154]. A phase III clinical trial is currently underway.

Despite there being a number of liposome-based products on the market in the U.S., there are currently no liposome-based vaccines [157]. Besides the NSCLC vaccine just described, additional liposomal vaccines that have been investigated in human trials include vaccines against malaria, HIV, hepatitis A, influenza [158], prostate cancer [159] and colorectal cancer [157]. These were all found to be safe and highly immunogenic [157–159].

2.10. Proteosomes

The most common forms of proteosomes used for vaccine applications are nanoparticles composed of the outer membrane proteins (OMPs) of *Neisseria meningitidis*. OMPs have been used successfully in a marketed meningococcal vaccine since 1981 and are considered non-toxic and well-tolerated [160,161]. Due to the hydrophobic nature of the OMPs, this immunogenic delivery system is appropriate for delivering apolar or amphiphilic antigens, and generally uses a non-covalent interaction between the proteosome and antigen to form the appropriate complexes [162].

These delivery vehicles have further been qualified as safe and well-tolerated materials through various human clinical trials. In most cases, these trials have involved IN administration of the vaccine. In several cases, a novel adjuvant known as Protollin[™] consisting of proteosomes non-covalently complexed with LPS has been used [163]. For example, a vaccine composed of Shigella flexneri 2a LPS conjugated to proteosomes was found to elicit an immune response similar to that observed after immunization with the live pathogen [164]. Additionally, monovalent [165] and trivalent [162] influenza A/H1N1-proteosome (no LPS) vaccines administered IN produced high antibody titers in serum as well as in nasal secretions [162,165], suggesting that IN delivery of proteosomebased vaccines may be able to produce both systemic and mucosal immunity. Furthermore, preclinical studies have shown that such a vaccine is capable of protecting mice upon challenge with the infective pathogen [163,166–168].

Another very similar category of vaccines, which is probably more appropriately discussed elsewhere due to its nonparticulate character, is the conjugate vaccine. These vaccines consist of a relatively non-immunogenic (especially in infants) antigen linked to a more immunogenic carrier such as a protein or toxoid [161]. The world's best selling vaccine, Prevnar, is an example of such a vaccine [169]. Prevnar is a pneumococcal vaccine manufactured by Wyeth consisting of the saccharides of the capsular antigens of seven serotypes of S. pneumoniae conjugated to mutant diphtheria toxoid CRM₁₉₇ [170]. Additionally, the conjugate vaccines for *H. influenzae* type B (Hib) were developed using Hib polysaccharide conjugated to either diphtheria toxoid (PRP-D), OMP of N. meningitidis (PRP-OMP), mutant diphtheria toxoid CRM₁₉₇ (HbOC) or tetanus toxoid (PRP-T) to render the Hib antigen immunogenic [171]. The meningococcal vaccine is another example of a conjugate vaccine. The quadrivalent vaccine manufactured by Sanofi Pasteur and marketed as Menactra® contains four meningococcal polysaccharides conjugated to diphtheria toxoid to enhance the immune response [160].

2.11. Montanide[™]

There are several different types of MontanideTM, including ISA 50V, 51, 206 and 720. ISA 50V, 51 and 720 are water-in-oil emulsions while ISA 206 is a water-in-oil-in-water emulsion. ISA 206 and 50V have been used only in veterinary vaccine formulations while the other two are under investigation for use

in humans [172]. Emulsions of MontanideTM ISA 51 and 720 are composed of a metabolizable squalene-based oil with a mannide monooleate emulsifier [173–175]. The ISA 720 formulation is slightly different from that of ISA 51 and permits antigens to be released more rapidly [24]. Similar to Incomplete Freund's adjuvant (IFA) in physical character, the biodegradable nature of the MontanideTM eliminates many of the cytotoxic properties of IFA [176]. The immune enhancement produced by the MontanideTM emulsions is believed to be due to the formation of a depot at the site of injection [173].

ISA 51 and 720 have both been shown to induce high antibody titers and CTL responses in a variety of animal species [176–179]. In many cases, the response was greater than that achieved using other types of adjuvants [85,173,173,176,179]. These emulsions have been in phase I and/or II clinical trials for vaccines against malaria, HIV and various cancers [173–175,180–184]. In most cases, the vaccines were found to be safe and fairly well-tolerated. A phase I trial of a trivalent malaria vaccine containing ISA 720 induced both humoral and cellular immune responses [182]. Other trials of a synthetic malaria peptide vaccine, a Wilms' tumor protein vaccine against various malignancies and a melanoma vaccine containing either ISA 51 or 720 all showed strong CTL responses in humans [180,184,185].

2.12. Cholesterol-bearing hydrophobized pullulan nanoparticles

Cholesterol can be conjugated to a variety of carbohydrates, including pullulan, dextran and mannose, rendering the molecules amphiphilic. Such molecules have been shown to self-assemble with and without proteins into 30–40 nm, colloidally stable nanoparticles [186–189] whose size and density can be modified by altering the degree of substitution of cholesterol groups on the polysaccharide [189]. Pullulan is the most popular polysaccharide to which cholesterol has been conjugated, with numerous reports published for studies conducted *in vitro* but only a single one in humans.

Currently, there is only one report of cholesterol-bearing hydrophobized pullulan nanoparticles (CHP) being evaluated in the clinic. A complex of CHP and NY-ESO-1 was shown to enhance the humoral immune response. In this study, the cellular immune response was not evaluated due to seropositive patients possessing activated CD8 T cells [190]. Previously, an *in vitro* study showed that dendritic cells loaded with CHP/NY-ESO-1 complexes induced both CD8 and CD4 T cells [188]. A preclinical study in mice showed that immunization with a complex of the HER2 oncoprotein and CHP induced both humoral and CD8 responses [191]. In all studies, vaccination with CHP seems to be both safe and well-tolerated [190,192].

3. Summary, conclusions and future challenges

Novel vaccine adjuvants and particle-based delivery vehicles are being evaluated in a variety of vaccines, including those against diseases such as cancer, malaria, AIDS, hepatitis, *etc.*, in which a cellular and/or mucosal immune response is desired. In these cases, a humoral response, which may be attainable with the use of aluminum salt adjuvants, may not be sufficient for generating protective immunity. Clinical studies of various nanoparticulate immunopotentiators and antigen delivery vehicles have shown CTL responses for viral vectors, ISCOMs and MontanideTM ISA 51 and 720. Th1 responses have been elicited for MF59 and MPL[®]. Additionally, cellular immune responses have also been generated in humans using VLPs, virosomes, non-degradable nanoparticles and liposomes. The breadth of carriers that has shown this desirable response shows promise for the development of new and improved vaccines of a wide variety of types.

Also encouraging are the numbers of vaccine delivery components and adjuvants that are being pursued for alternative routes of administration and the mucosal immune response many have shown. Viral-vectored vaccines as well as proteosomes given IN have shown to be capable of producing systemic antibodies in humans. Moreover, a VLP vaccine administered orally elicited humoral, cellular and mucosal immune responses in the clinic. Preclinical studies have also demonstrated mucosal immunity for IN administration of ISCOM and CaP vaccines as well as for intravaginal delivery of a CaP vaccine.

So, why have only a few of these particle-based vaccine delivery systems made it to the market? The most probable reason is that the clinical trials required for vaccine approval are often very long and difficult. Unlike preclinical studies in which animals can be challenged with the infectious pathogen following immunization to evaluate whether the vaccine is protective, human trials often require waiting for an outbreak before protection can be analyzed. Furthermore, since many vaccines are often administered to healthy individuals, and frequently to infants, it is critical that they are proven safe and well-tolerated in non-human primates before entering human trials.

While the development of novel vaccine delivery systems and adjuvants has been aided by nanotechnology, this field has also resulted in some concerns regarding the toxicity of such small particles. Among perceived potential problems are their high surface area and reactivity, the ability of such small particles to cross biological membranes and the slow biodegradability of some materials [193,194]. Such arguments are supported by data describing the effects of pollutants on human health [138,193-195]. Despite these issues, it seems reasonable to anticipate that in the case of vaccines, the infrequent and low-level exposure to nanoparticles that an individual will encounter during immunization is not enough to cause adverse health problems such as those potentially attributed to nanotoxicity effects. With that being said, the development of any novel vaccine adjuvant or delivery platform, like any other pharmaceutical product, must prove its safety and tolerability before its approval.

Many challenges must be met before new classes of vaccines become available. Ideally, an adjuvant or delivery vehicle will have the ability to stimulate humoral, cellular and mucosal immune responses concurrently or discretely, depending upon the desired treatment strategy. The duration of the response should be long and the vaccine components should be easily metabolized by the body. An additional challenge includes developing alternative, less invasive approaches for the administration of vaccinations. Perhaps most importantly, the cost of producing and distributing new vaccines should remain moderate such that the benefit is available to everyone at risk including persons in less developed parts of the world. As these challenges are met, the prevention and therapy of many previously untreatable diseases should become increasingly possible.

4. Note added in proof

Recent clinical trials of an adenovirus-based HIV vaccine by Merck proved unsuccessful. Furthermore, there was some evidence that vaccinated subjects previously exposed to adenovirus showed a higher incidence of infection by HIV [HIV vaccine failure prompts Merck to halt trial, Nature 449 (2007) 390.] [H. Ledford, HIV vaccine may raise risk, Nature 450 (2007) 325.]

References

- S.L. Plotkin, S.A. Plotkin, A short history of vaccination, in: S.A. Plotkin, W.A. Orenstein (Eds.), Vaccines, WB Saunders Company, Philadelphia, 2004, pp. 1–15.
- [2] F. Fenner, D.A. Henderson, I. Arita, Z. Jezek, I.D. Ladnyi, Smallpox and Its Eradication, World Health Organization, Geneva, 1988.
- [3] J. Smith, R. Leke, A. Adams, R.H. Tangermann, Certification of polio eradication: process and lessons learned, Bull. World Health Organ. 82 (2004) 24–30.
- [4] National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, Understanding vaccines: what they are and how they work. http://www.niaid.nih.gov/ publications/vaccine/pdf/undvacc.pdf.
- [5] National Center for Infectious Diseases, Disease Listing, Meningococcal Disease, General Info, 2005 http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dbmd/diseaseinfo/meningococcal_g.htm.
- [6] K. Huygen, J. Content, O. Denis, D.L. Montgomery, A.M. Yawman, R.R. Deck, C.M. DeWitt, I.M. Orme, S. Baldwin, C. D'Souza, A. Drowart, E. Lozes, P. Vandenbussche, J.P. Van Vooren, M.A. Liu, J.B. Ulmer, Immunogenicity and protective efficacy of a tuberculosis DNA vaccine, Nat. Med. 2 (1996) 893–898.
- [7] A.T. Kamath, C.G. Feng, M. Macdonald, H. Briscoe, W.J. Britton, Differential protective efficacy of DNA vaccines expressing secreted proteins of Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Infect. Immun. 67 (1999) 1702–1707.
- [8] H. Jin, C. Xiao, Z. Chen, Y. Kang, Y. Ma, K. Zhu, Q. Xie, Y. Tu, Y. Yu, B. Wang, Induction of Th1 type response by DNA vaccinations with N, M, and E genes against SARS-CoV in mice, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 328 (2005) 979–986.
- [9] T.W. Kim, J.H. Lee, C.F. Hung, S. Peng, R. Roden, M.C. Wang, R. Viscidi, Y.C. Tsai, L. He, P.J. Chen, D.A. Boyd, T.C. Wu, Generation and characterization of DNA vaccines targeting the nucleocapsid protein of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus, J. Virol. 78 (2004) 4638–4645.
- [10] M. Okada, Y. Takemoto, Y. Okuno, S. Hashimoto, S. Yoshida, Y. Fukunaga, T. Tanaka, Y. Kita, S. Kuwayama, Y. Muraki, N. Kanamaru, H. Takai, C. Okada, Y. Sakaguchi, I. Furukawa, K. Yamada, M. Matsumoto, T. Kase, D.E. Demello, J.S. Peiris, P.J. Chen, N. Yamamoto, Y. Yoshinaka, T. Nomura, I. Ishida, S. Morikawa, M. Tashiro, M. Sakatani, The development of vaccines against SARS corona virus in mice and SCID-PBL/hu mice, Vaccine 23 (2005) 2269–2272.
- [11] W.A. Burgers, J.H. van Harmelen, E. Shephard, C. Adams, T. Mgwebi, W. Bourn, T. Hanke, A.L. Williamson, C. Williamson, Design and preclinical evaluation of a multigene human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C DNA vaccine for clinical trial, J. Gen. Virol. 87 (2006) 399–410.
- [12] K. Shinoda, K.Q. Xin, N. Jounai, Y. Kojima, Y. Tamura, E. Okada, S. Kawamoto, K. Okuda, D. Klinman, K. Okuda, Polygene DNA vaccine induces a high level of protective effect against HIV-vaccinia virus challenge in mice, Vaccine 22 (2004) 3676–3690.
- [13] G. Walsh, Biopharmaceuticals: Biochemistry and Biotechnology, John Wiley, New York, 1998.
- [14] D.T. O'Hagan, Microparticles as vaccine delivery systems, in: V.E.J.C. Schijns, D.T. O'Hagan (Eds.), Immunopotentiators in Modern Vaccines, Academic Press, Burlington, MA, 2006, pp. 123–147.

- [15] M.J. Copland, T. Rades, N.M. Davies, M.A. Baird, Lipid based particulate formulations for the delivery of antigen, Immunol. Cell Biol. 83 (2005) 97–105.
- [16] A. Saupe, W. McBurney, T. Rades, S. Hook, Immunostimulatory colloidal delivery systems for cancer vaccines, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 3 (2006) 345–354.
- [17] P.W.H.I. Parren, P.A. Marx, A.J. Hessell, A. Luckay, J. Harouse, C. Cheng-Mayer, J.P. Moore, D.R. Burton, Antibody protects macaques against vaginal challenge with a pathogenic R5 simian/human immunodeficiency virus at serum levels giving complete neutralization in vitro, J. Virol. 75 (2001) 8340–8347.
- [18] W.S. Gallichan, K.L. Rosenthal, Long-lived cytotoxic T lymphocyte memory in mucosal tissues after mucosal but not systemic immunization, J. Exp. Med. 184 (1996) 1879–1890.
- [19] J.W. Huleatt, A.R. Jacobs, J. Tang, P. Desai, E.B. Kopp, Y. Huang, L. Song, V. Nakaar, T.J. Powell, Vaccination with recombinant fusion proteins incorporating Toll-like receptor ligands induces rapid cellular and humoral immunity, Vaccine 25 (2007) 763–775.
- [20] O. Borges, G. Borchard, J.C. Verhoef, A. de Sousa, H.E. Junginger, Preparation of coated nanoparticles for a new mucosal vaccine delivery system, Int. J. Pharm. 299 (2005) 155–166.
- [21] L.S. Jones, L.J. Peek, J. Power, A. Markham, B. Yazzie, C.R. Middaugh, Effects of adsorption to aluminum salt adjuvants on the structure and stability of model protein antigens, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 13406–13414.
- [22] C.J. Hutcheon, J.O. Becker, B.A. Russell, P.A. Bariola, G.J. Peterson, S.D. Stroop, Physiochemical and functional characterization of antigen proteins eluted from aluminum hydroxide adjuvant, Vaccine 24 (2006) 7214–7225.
- [23] N.R. Rabinovich, P. McInnes, D.L. Klein, B.F. Hall, Vaccine technologies: view to the future, Science 265 (1994) 1401–1404.
- [24] J.K. Simon, R. Edelman, Clinical evaluation of adjuvants, in: V.E.J.C. Schijns, D.T. O'Hagan (Eds.), Immunopotentiators in Modern Vaccines, Academic Press, Burlington, MA, 2006, pp. 319–342.
- [25] E.B. Lindblad, Aluminium compounds for use in vaccines, Immunol Cell Biol 82 (2004) 497–505.
- [26] R.K. Gupta, Aluminum compounds as vaccine adjuvants, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 32 (1998) 155–172.
- [27] H. HogenEsch, Mechanisms of stimulation of the immune response by aluminum adjuvants, Vaccine 20 (2002) S34–S39.
- [28] A.T. Glenny, A.H. Buttle, M.F. Stevens, Rate of disappearance of diphtheria toxoid injected into rabbits and guinea pigs: toxoid precipitated with alum, J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 34 (1931) 267–275.
- [29] R.K. Gupta, B.E. Rost, E. Relyveld, G.R. Siber, Adjuvant properties of aluminum and calcium compounds, in: M.F. Powell, M.J. Newman (Eds.), Vaccine Design: the Subunit and Adjuvant Approach, Plenum Press, New York, 1995, pp. 229–248.
- [30] J.H. Eldridge, J.K. Staas, J.A. Meulbroek, T.R. Tice, R.M. Gilley, Biodegradable and biocompatible poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres as an adjuvant for staphylococcal enterotoxin B toxoid which enhances the level of toxin-neutralizing antibodies, Infect. Immun. 59 (1991) 2978–2986.
- [31] F.R. Vogel, M.F. Powell, C.R. Alving, A compendium of vaccine adjuvants and excipients, in: M.F. Powell, M.J. Newman (Eds.), Vaccine Design: the Subunit and Adjuvant Approach, Plenum Press, New York, 1995.
- [32] World Health Organization, Temperature Sensitivity of Vaccines, 2006 http://www.path.org/vaccineresources/files/Temp_sensitivity_WHO.pdf.
- [33] R.K. Gherardi, M. Coquet, P. Cherin, L. Belec, P. Moretto, P.A. Dreyfus, J.F. Pellissier, P. Chariot, F.J. Authier, Macrophagic myofasciitis lesions assess long-term persistence of vaccine-derived aluminium hydroxide in muscle, Brain. 124 (2001) 1821–1831.
- [34] L. Frost, P. Johansen, S. Pedersen, N. Veien, P.A. Ostergaard, M.H. Nielsen, Persistent subcutaneous nodules in children hyposensitized with aluminium-containing allergen extracts, Allergy 40 (1985) 368–372.
- [35] W. Jiang, R.K. Gupta, M.C. Deshpande, S.P. Schwendeman, Biodegradable poly(lactic-coglycolic acid) microparticles for injectable delivery of vaccine antigens, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 57 (2005) 391–410.
- [36] D.T. O'Hagan, M. Singh, Microparticles as vaccine adjuvants and delivery systems, Expert Rev. Vaccines 2 (2003) 269–283.

- [37] D.T. O'Hagan, M. Singh, J.B. Ulmer, Microparticle-based technologies for vaccines, Methods 40 (2006) 10–19.
- [38] D.T. O'Hagan, D. Rahman, J.P. McGee, H. Jeffery, M.C. Davies, P. Williams, S.S. Davis, S.J. Challacombe, Biodegradable microparticles as controlled release antigen delivery systems, Immunology. 73 (1991) 239–242.
- [39] D.T. O'Hagan, H. Jeffery, M.J. Roberts, J.P. McGee, S.S. Davis, Controlled release microparticles for vaccine development, Vaccine. 9 (1991) 768–771.
- [40] R. Audran, K. Peter, J. Dannull, Y. Men, E. Scandella, M. Groettrup, B. Gander, G. Corradin, Encapsulation of peptides in biodegradable microspheres prolongs their MHC class-I presentation by dendritic cells and macrophages in vitro, Vaccine 21 (2003) 1250–1255.
- [41] Y. Men, H. Tamber, R. Audran, B. Gander, G. Corradin, Induction of a cytotoxic T lymphocyte response by immunization with a malaria specific CTL peptide entrapped in biodegradable polymer microspheres, Vaccine 15 (1997) 1405–1412.
- [42] P. Johansen, C. Raynaud, M. Yang, M.J. Colston, R.E. Tascon, D.B. Lowrie, Antimycobacterial immunity induced by a single injection of *M. leprae* Hsp65-encoding plasmid DNA in biodegradable microparticles, Immunol. Lett. 90 (2003) 81–85.
- [43] S.A. Plotkin, Vaccines: past, present and future, Nat. Med. 11 (2005) S5-S11.
- [44] K.R. Van Kampen, Z. Shi, P. Gao, J. Zhang, K.W. Foster, D.T. Chen, D. Marks, C.A. Elmets, D.C. Tang, Safety and immunogenicity of adenovirus-vectored nasal and epicutaneous influenza vaccines in humans, Vaccine. 23 (2005) 1029–1036.
- [45] Z. Shi, M. Zeng, G. Yang, F. Siegel, L.J. Cain, K.R. van Kampen, C.A. Elmets, D.-C.C. Tang, Protection against tetanus by needle-free inoculation of adenovirus-vectored nasal and epicutaneous vaccines, J. Virol. 75 (2001) 11474–11482.
- [46] M. Santosuosso, S. McCormick, Z. Xing, Adenoviral vectors for mucosal vaccination against infectious diseases, Viral Immunol. 18 (2005) 283–291.
- [47] T. Hanke, A.J. McMichael, L. Dorrell, Clinical experience with plasmid DNA- and modified vaccinia virus Ankara-vectored human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clade A vaccine focusing on T-cell induction, J. Gen. Virol. 88 (2007) 1–12.
- [48] A.C. Moore, A.V. Hill, Progress in DNA-based heterologous prime-boost immunization strategies for malaria, Immunol. Rev. 199 (2004) 126–143.
- [49] S.J. McConkey, W.H. Reece, V.S. Moorthy, D. Webster, S. Dunachie, G. Butcher, J.M. Vuola, T.J. Blanchard, P. Gothard, K. Watkins, C.M. Hannan, S. Everaere, K. Brown, K.E. Kester, J. Cummings, J. Williams, D.G. Heppner, A. Pathan, K. Flanagan, N. Arulanantham, M.T. Roberts, M. Roy, G.L. Smith, J. Schneider, T. Peto, R.E. Sinden, S.C. Gilbert, A.V. Hill, Enhanced T-cell immunogenicity of plasmid DNA vaccines boosted by recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara in humans, Nat. Med. 9 (2003) 729–735.
- [50] V.S. Moorthy, S. McConkey, M. Roberts, P. Gothard, N. Arulanantham, P. Degano, J. Schneider, C. Hannan, M. Roy, S.C. Gilbert, T.E.A. Peto, A.V.S. Hill, Safety of DNA and modified vaccinia virus Ankara vaccines against liver-stage *P. falciparum* malaria in non-immune volunteers, Vaccine 21 (2003) 1995–2002.
- [51] H.D. Kim, K. Tahara, J.A. Maxwell, R. Lalonde, T. Fukuiwa, K. Fujihashi, K.R. Van Kampen, F.K. Kong, D.C. Tang, K. Fukuchi, Nasal inoculation of an adenovirus vector encoding 11 tandem repeats of Abeta1-6 upregulates IL-10 expression and reduces amyloid load in a Mo/Hu APPswe PS1dE9 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, J. Gene Med. 51 (2007) 88–98.
- [52] D.H. Barouch, G.J. Nabel, Adenovirus vector-based vaccines for human immunodeficiency virus type 1, Hum. Gene Ther. 16 (2005) 149–156.
- [53] A.T. Catanzaro, R.A. Koup, M. Roederer, R.T. Bailer, M.E. Enama, Z. Moodie, L. Gu, J.E. Martin, L. Novik, B.K. Chakrabarti, B.T. Butman, J.G. Gall, C.R. King, C.A. Andrews, R. Sheets, P.L. Gomez, J.R. Mascola, G.J. Nabel, B.S. Graham, Phase 1 safety and immunogenicity evaluation of a multiclade HIV-1 candidate vaccine delivered by a replication-defective recombinant adenovirus vector, J. Infect. Dis. 194 (2006) 1638–1649.
- [54] L. Dorrell, P. Williams, A. Suttill, D. Brown, J. Roberts, C. Conlon, T. Hanke, A. McMichael, Safety and tolerability of recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara expressing an HIV-1 gag/multiepitope immunogen (MVA.HIVA) in HIV-1-infected persons receiving combination antiretroviral therapy, Vaccine 11 (2007) 11.

- [55] K. Berencsi, Z. Gyulai, E. Gonczol, S. Pincus, W.I. Cox, S. Michelson, L. Kari, C. Meric, M. Cadoz, J. Zahradnik, S. Starr, S. Plotkin, A canarypox vector-expressing cytomegalovirus (CMV) phosphoprotein 65 induces long-lasting cytotoxic T cell responses in human CMV-seronegative subjects, J. Infect. Dis. 183 (2001) 1171–1179.
- [56] B.T. Rouse, S. Norley, S. Martin, Antiviral cytotoxic T lymphocyte induction and vaccination, Rev. Infect. Dis. 10 (1988) 16–33.
- [57] A.J. Redwood, N.L. Harvey, M. Lloyd, M.A. Lawson, C.M. Hardy, G.R. Shellam, Viral vectored immunocontraception: screening of multiple fertility antigens using murine cytomegalovirus as a vaccine vector, Vaccine 25 (2007) 698–708.
- [58] F. Guirakhoo, K. Pugachev, Z. Zhang, G. Myers, I. Levenbook, K. Draper, J. Lang, S. Ocran, F. Mitchell, M. Parsons, N. Brown, S. Brandler, C. Fournier, B. Barrere, F. Rizvi, A. Travassos, R. Nichols, D. Trent, T. Monath, Safety and efficacy of chimeric yellow fever-dengue virus tetravalent vaccine formulations in nonhuman primates, J. Virol. 78 (2004) 4761–4775.
- [59] S. Li, E. Locke, J. Bruder, D. Clarke, D.L. Doolan, M.J. Havenga, A.V. Hill, P. Liljestrom, T.P. Monath, H.Y. Naim, C. Ockenhouse, D.C. Tang, K.R. Van Kampen, J.F. Viret, F. Zavala, F. Dubovsky, Viral vectors for malaria vaccine development, Vaccine (2006).
- [60] R. Harrop, J. John, M.W. Carroll, Recombinant viral vectors: cancer vaccines, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 58 (2006) 931–947.
- [61] J.L. Excler, S. Plotkin, The prime-boost concept applied to HIV preventive vaccines, AIDS 11 (Suppl A) (1997) S127–S137.
- [62] G. Pialoux, J.L. Excler, Y. Riviere, G. Gonzalez-Canali, V. Feuillie, P. Coulaud, J.C. Gluckman, T.J. Matthews, B. Meignier, M.P. Kieny, P. Gonnet, I. Diaz, C. Meric, E. Paoletti, J. Tartaglia, H. Salomon, S. Plotkin, A prime-boost approach to HIV preventive vaccine using a recombinant canarypox virus expressing glycoprotein 160 (MN) followed by a recombinant glycoprotein 160 (MN/LAI), AIDS Res. Hum. Retrovir. 11 (1995) 373–381.
- [63] R.R. Amara, F. Villinger, J.D. Altman, S.L. Lydy, S.P. O'Neil, S.I. Staprans, D.C. Montefiori, Y. Xu, J.G. Herndon, L.S. Wyatt, M.A. Candido, N.L. Kozyr, P.L. Earl, J.M. Smith, H.L. Ma, B.D. Grimm, M.L. Hulsey, H.M. McClure, J.M. McNicholl, B. Moss, H.L. Robinson, Control of a mucosal challenge and prevention of AIDS by a multiprotein DNA/ MVA vaccine, Vaccine 20 (2002) 1949–1955.
- [64] N. Goonetilleke, S. Moore, L. Dally, N. Winstone, I. Cebere, A. Mahmoud, S. Pinheiro, G. Gillespie, D. Brown, V. Loach, J. Roberts, A. Guimaraes-Walker, P. Hayes, K. Loughran, C. Smith, J. De Bont, C. Verlinde, D. Vooijs, C. Schmidt, M. Boaz, J. Gilmour, P. Fast, L. Dorrell, T. Hanke, A.J. McMichael, Induction of multifunctional human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific T cells capable of proliferation in healthy subjects by using a prime-boost regimen of DNA- and modified vaccinia virus Ankaravectored vaccines expressing HIV-1 Gag coupled to CD8+ T-cell epitopes, J. Virol. 80 (2006) 4717–4728.
- [65] H. McShane, R. Brookes, S.C. Gilbert, A.V. Hill, Enhanced immunogenicity of CD4(+) T-cell responses and protective efficacy of a DNAmodified vaccinia virus Ankara prime-boost vaccination regimen for murine tuberculosis, Infect. Immun. 69 (2001) 681–686.
- [66] N.J. Sullivan, A. Sanchez, P.E. Rollin, Z.Y. Yang, G.J. Nabel, Development of a preventive vaccine for Ebola virus infection in primates, Nature 408 (2000) 605–609.
- [67] T. Hanke, R.V. Samuel, T.J. Blanchard, V.C. Neumann, T.M. Allen, J.E. Boyson, S.A. Sharpe, N. Cook, G.L. Smith, D.I. Watkins, M.P. Cranage, A.J. McMichael, Effective induction of simian immunodeficiency virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in macaques by using a multiepitope gene and DNA prime-modified vaccinia virus Ankara boost vaccination regimen, J. Virol. 73 (1999) 7524–7532.
- [68] I.C. Metcalfe, R. Glück, Virosomes for vaccine delivery, in: V.E.J.C. Schijns, D.T. O'Hagan (Eds.), Immunopotentiators in Modern Vaccines, Academic Press, Burlington, MA, 2006, pp. 179–189.
- [69] E.V.L. Grgacic, D.A. Anderson, Virus-like particles: passport to immune recognition, Methods 40 (2006) 60–65.
- [70] A. Huckriede, L. Bungener, T. Stegmann, T. Daemen, J. Medema, A.M. Palache, J. Wilschut, The virosome concept for influenza vaccines, Vaccine 23 (Suppl 1) (2005) S26–S38.

- [71] R. Gluck, C. Moser, I.C. Metcalfe, Influenza virosomes as an efficient system for adjuvanted vaccine delivery, Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 4 (2004) 1139–1145.
- [72] I.A. de Bruijn, J. Nauta, W.C.M. Cramer, L. Gerez, A.M. Palache, Clinical experience with inactivated, virosomal influenza vaccine, Vaccine 23 (2005) S39–S49.
- [73] R. Mischler, I.C. Metcalfe, Inflexal V a trivalent virosome subunit influenza vaccine: production, Vaccine 20 (Suppl 5) (2002) B17–B23.
- [74] W.J. McAleer, E.B. Buynak, R.Z. Maigetter, D.E. Wampler, W.J. Miller, M.R. Hilleman, Human hepatitis B vaccine from recombinant yeast, Nature 307 (1984) 178–180.
- [75] I. Yap, R. Guan, S.H. Chan, Recombinant DNA hepatitis B vaccine containing Pre-S components of the HBV coat protein—a preliminary study on immunogenicity, Vaccine 10 (1992) 439–442.
- [76] K. Madalinski, S.P. Sylvan, U. Hellstrom, J. Mikolajewicz, E. Zembrzuska-Sadkowska, E. Piontek, Antibody responses to preS components after immunization of children with low doses of BioHepB, Vaccine 20 (2001) 92–97.
- [77] D. Shouval, Y. Ilan, R. Adler, R. Deepen, A. Panet, Z. Even-Chen, M. Gorecki, W.H. Gerlich, Improved immunogenicity in mice of a mammalian cell-derived recombinant hepatitis B vaccine containing pre-S1 and pre-S2 antigens as compared with conventional yeast-derived vaccines, Vaccine 12 (1994) 1453–1459.
- [78] D.M. Harper, E.L. Franco, C. Wheeler, D.G. Ferris, D. Jenkins, A. Schuind, T. Zahaf, B. Innis, P. Naud, N.S. De Carvalho, C.M. Roteli-Martins, J. Teixeira, M.M. Blatter, A.P. Korn, W. Quint, G. Dubin, Efficacy of a bivalent L1 virus-like particle vaccine in prevention of infection with human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 in young women: a randomised controlled trial, Lancet 364 (2004) 1757–1765.
- [79] D.M. Harper, E.L. Franco, C.M. Wheeler, A.-B. Moscicki, B. Romanowski, C.M. Roteli-Martins, D. Jenkins, A. Schuind, S.A. Costa Clemens, G. Dubin, Sustained efficacy up to 4[middle dot]5 years of a bivalent L1 virus-like particle vaccine against human papillomavirus types 16 and 18: follow-up from a randomised control trial, Lancet 367 (2006) 1247–1255.
- [80] L.L. Villa, R.L. Costa, C.A. Petta, R.P. Andrade, K.A. Ault, A.R. Giuliano, C.M. Wheeler, L.A. Koutsky, C. Malm, M. Lehtinen, F.E. Skjeldestad, S.E. Olsson, M. Steinwall, D.R. Brown, R.J. Kurman, B.M. Ronnett, M.H. Stoler, A. Ferenczy, D.M. Harper, G.M. Tamms, J. Yu, L. Lupinacci, R. Railkar, F.J. Taddeo, K.U. Jansen, M.T. Esser, H.L. Sings, A.J. Saah, E. Barr, Prophylactic quadrivalent human papillomavirus (types 6, 11, 16, and 18) L1 virus-like particle vaccine in young women: a randomised double-blind placebo-controlled multicentre phase II efficacy trial, Lancet Oncol. 6 (2005) 271–278.
- [81] F.X. Bosch, S. de Sanjose, Chapter 1: human papillomavirus and cervical cancer-burden and assessment of causality, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. Monographs (2003) 3–13.
- [82] C.O. Tacket, M.B. Sztein, G.A. Losonsky, S.S. Wasserman, M.K. Estes, Humoral, mucosal, and cellular immune responses to oral Norwalk virus-like particles in volunteers, Clin. Immunol. 108 (2003) 241–247.
- [83] T.M. Kundig, G. Senti, G. Schnetzler, C. Wolf, B.M. Prinz Vavricka, A. Fulurija, F. Hennecke, K. Sladko, G.T. Jennings, M.F. Bachmann, Der p 1 peptide on virus-like particles is safe and highly immunogenic in healthy adults, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 117 (2006) 1470–1476.
- [84] E.H. Nardin, G.A. Oliveira, J.M. Calvo-Calle, K. Wetzel, C. Maier, A.J. Birkett, P. Sarpotdar, M.L. Corado, G.B. Thornton, A. Schmidt, Phase I testing of a malaria vaccine composed of hepatitis B virus core particles expressing *Plasmodium falciparum* circumsporozoite epitopes, Infect. Immun. 72 (2004) 6519–6527.
- [85] G.A. Oliveira, K. Wetzel, J.M. Calvo-Calle, R. Nussenzweig, A. Schmidt, A. Birkett, F. Dubovsky, E. Tierney, C.H. Gleiter, G. Boehmer, A.J.F. Luty, M. Ramharter, G.B. Thornton, P.G. Kremsner, E.H. Nardin, Safety and enhanced immunogenicity of a hepatitis B core particle *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria vaccine formulated in adjuvant Montanide ISA 720 in a phase I trial, Infect. Immun. 73 (2005) 3587–3597.
- [86] S.J. Martin, A. Vyakarnam, R. Cheingsong-Popov, D. Callow, K.L. Jones, J.M. Senior, S.E. Adams, A.J. Kingsman, P. Matear, F.M. Gotch, et al.,

Immunization of human HIV-seronegative volunteers with recombinant p17/p24:Ty virus-like particles elicits HIV-1 p24-specific cellular and humoral immune responses, AIDS 7 (1993) 1315–1323.

- [87] G. Ott, G.L. Barchfeld, D. Chernoff, R. Radhakrishnan, P. van Hoogevest, G. Van Nest, MF59. Design and evaluation of a safe and potent adjuvant for human vaccines, Pharm. Biotechnol. 6 (1995) 277–296.
- [88] A. Podda, G. Del Giudice, D.T. O'Hagan, MF59: a safe and potent adjuvant for human use, in: V.E.J.C. Schijns, D.T. O'Hagan (Eds.), Immunopotentiators in Modern Vaccines, Academic Press, Burlington, MA, 2006, pp. 149–159.
- [89] M. Dupuis, T.J. Murphy, D. Higgins, M. Ugozzoli, G. van Nest, G. Ott, D.M. McDonald, Dendritic cells internalize vaccine adjuvant after intramuscular injection, Cell. Immunol. 186 (1998) 18–27.
- [90] J.O. Kahn, F. Sinangil, J. Baenziger, N. Murcar, D. Wynne, R.L. Coleman, K.S. Steimer, C.L. Dekker, D. Chernoff, Clinical and immunologic responses to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) type 1SF2 gp120 subunit vaccine combined with MF59 adjuvant with or without muramyl tripeptide dipalmitoyl phosphatidylethanolamine in non-HIV-infected human volunteers, J. Infect. Dis. 170 (1994) 1288–1291.
- [91] A.G. Langenberg, R.L. Burke, S.F. Adair, R. Sekulovich, M. Tigges, C.L. Dekker, L. Corey, A recombinant glycoprotein vaccine for herpes simplex virus type 2: safety and immunogenicity [corrected], Ann. Intern. Med. 122 (1995) 889–898.
- [92] D.K. Mitchell, S.J. Holmes, R.L. Burke, A.M. Duliege, S.P. Adler, Immunogenicity of a recombinant human cytomegalovirus gB vaccine in seronegative toddlers, Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J. 21 (2002) 133–138.
- [93] A. Podda, The adjuvanted influenza vaccines with novel adjuvants: experience with the MF59-adjuvanted vaccine, Vaccine 19 (2001) 2673–2680.
- [94] R. Gasparini, T. Pozzi, E. Montomoli, E. Fragapane, F. Senatore, M. Minutello, A. Podda, Increased immunogenicity of the MF59-adjuvanted influenza vaccine compared to a conventional subunit vaccine in elderly subjects, Eur. J. Epidemiol. 17 (2001) 135–140.
- [95] S. Frey, G. Poland, S. Percell, A. Podda, Comparison of the safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity of a MF59-adjuvanted influenza vaccine and a non-adjuvanted influenza vaccine in non-elderly adults, Vaccine 21 (2003) 4234–4237.
- [96] R.L. Atmar, W.A. Keitel, S.M. Patel, J.M. Katz, D. She, H. El Sahly, J. Pompey, T.R. Cate, R.B. Couch, Safety and immunogenicity of nonadjuvanted and MF59-adjuvanted influenza A/H9N2 vaccine preparations, Clin. Infect. Dis. 43 (2006) 1135–1142.
- [97] T.C. Heineman, M.L. Clements-Mann, G.A. Poland, R.M. Jacobson, A.E. Izu, D. Sakamoto, J. Eiden, G.A. Van Nest, H.H. Hsu, A randomized, controlled study in adults of the immunogenicity of a novel hepatitis B vaccine containing MF59 adjuvant, Vaccine 17 (1999) 2769–2778.
- [98] T.G. Boyce, H.H. Hsu, E.C. Sannella, S.D. Coleman-Dockery, E. Baylis, Y. Zhu, G. Barchfeld, A. DiFrancesco, M. Paranandi, B. Culley, K.M. Neuzil, P.F. Wright, Safety and immunogenicity of adjuvanted and unadjuvanted subunit influenza vaccines administered intranasally to healthy adults, Vaccine 19 (2000) 217–226.
- [99] E. Miller, Immunisation policies—successes, failures and the future, J. Clin. Pathol. 49 (1996) 620–622.
- [100] D. Drane, M.J. Pearse, The ISCOMATRIXTM adjuvant, in: V.E.J.C. Schijns, D.T. O'Hagan (Eds.), Immunopotentiators in Modern Vaccines, Academic Press, Burlington, MA, 2006, pp. 191–215.
- [101] G.F. Rimmelzwaan, A.D.M.E. Osterhaus, A novel generation of viral vaccines based on the ISCOM matrix, in: M.F. Powell, M.J. Newman (Eds.), Vaccine Design: the Subunit and Adjuvant Approach, Plenum Press, New York, 1994.
- [102] I.G. Barr, A. Sjolander, J.C. Cox, ISCOMs and other saponin based adjuvants, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 32 (1998) 247–271.
- [103] K.F. Hu, K. Lovgren-Bengtsson, B. Morein, Immunostimulating complexes (ISCOMs) for nasal vaccination, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 51 (2001) 149–159.
- [104] M.J. Pearse, D. Drane, ISCOMATRIX adjuvant for antigen delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 57 (2005) 465–474.
- [105] G.F. Rimmelzwaan, N. Nieuwkoop, A. Brandenburg, G. Sutter, W.E. Beyer, D. Maher, J. Bates, A.D. Osterhaus, A randomized, double blind

study in young healthy adults comparing cell mediated and humoral immune responses induced by influenza ISCOM vaccines and conventional vaccines, Vaccine 19 (2000) 1180–1187.

- [106] F.A. Ennis, J. Cruz, J. Jameson, M. Klein, D. Burt, J. Thipphawong, Augmentation of human influenza A virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte memory by influenza vaccine and adjuvanted carriers (ISCOMS), Virology 259 (1999) 256–261.
- [107] I.H. Frazer, M. Quinn, J.L. Nicklin, J. Tan, L.C. Perrin, P. Ng, V.M. O'Connor, O. White, N. Wendt, J. Martin, J.M. Crowley, S.J. Edwards, A.W. McKenzie, S.V. Mitchell, D.W. Maher, M.J. Pearse, R.L. Basser, Phase 1 study of HPV16-specific immunotherapy with E6E7 fusion protein and ISCOMATRIX(TM) adjuvant in women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia, Vaccine 23 (2004) 172–181.
- [108] CSL Biotherapies, HCV Vaccine, 2007 http://www.csl.com.au/hcv_vaccine.asp.
- [109] I.D. Davis, W. Chen, H. Jackson, P. Parente, M. Shackleton, W. Hopkins, Q. Chen, N. Dimopoulos, T. Luke, R. Murphy, A.M. Scott, E. Maraskovsky, G. McArthur, D. MacGregor, S. Sturrock, T.Y. Tai, S. Green, A. Cuthbertson, D. Maher, L. Miloradovic, S.V. Mitchell, G. Ritter, A.A. Jungbluth, Y.-T. Chen, S. Gnjatic, E.W. Hoffman, L.J. Old, J.S. Cebon, Recombinant NY-ESO-1 protein with ISCOMATRIX adjuvant induces broad integrated antibody and CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses in humans, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 10697–10702.
- [110] B. Ronnberg, M. Fekadu, B. Morein, Adjuvant activity of non-toxic *Quillaja saponaria* Molina components for use in ISCOM matrix, Vaccine 13 (1995) 1375–1382.
- [111] G.F. Rimmelzwaan, M. Baars, G. van Amerongen, R. van Beek, A.D. Osterhaus, A single dose of an ISCOM influenza vaccine induces longlasting protective immunity against homologous challenge infection but fails to protect Cynomolgus macaques against distant drift variants of influenza A (H3N2) viruses, Vaccine 20 (2001) 158–163.
- [112] S. Sjolander, D. Drane, R. Davis, L. Beezum, M. Pearse, J. Cox, Intranasal immunisation with influenza-ISCOM induces strong mucosal as well as systemic antibody and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses, Vaccine 19 (2001) 4072–4080.
- [113] A. Coulter, R. Harris, R. Davis, D. Drane, J. Cox, D. Ryan, P. Sutton, S. Rockman, M. Pearse, Intranasal vaccination with ISCOMATRIX adjuvanted influenza vaccine, Vaccine 21 (2003) 946–949.
- [114] A. Sjolander, J.C. Cox, Uptake and adjuvant activity of orally delivered saponin and ISCOM vaccines, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 34 (1998) 321–338.
- [115] M.A. Thapar, E.L. Parr, J.J. Bozzola, M.B. Parr, Secretory immune responses in the mouse vagina after parenteral or intravaginal immunization with an immunostimulating complex (ISCOM), Vaccine 9 (1991) 129–133.
- [116] D.H. Persing, P. McGowan, J.T. Evans, C. Cluff, S. Mossman, D. Johnson, J.R. Baldridge, Toll-like receptor 4 agonists as vaccine adjuvants, in: V.E.J. C. Schijns, D.T. O'Hagan (Eds.), Immunopotentiators in Modern Vaccines, Academic Press, Burlington, MA, 2006, pp. 93–107.
- [117] J.T. Ulrich, K.R. Myers, Monophosphoryl lipid A as an adjuvant. Past experiences and new directions in: M.F. Powell, M.J. Newman (Eds.), Vaccine Design: the Subunit and Adjuvant Approach, Plenum Press, New York, 1994.
- [118] A.G. Johnson, S. Gaines, M. Landy, Studies on the O antigen of *Salmonella typhosa*: V. Enhancement of antibody response to protein antigens by the purified lipopolysaccharide, J. Exp. Med. 103 (1956) 225–246.
- [119] E.T. Rietschel, L. Brade, K. Brandenburg, H.D. Flad, J. de Jong-Leuveninck, K. Kawahara, B. Lindner, H. Loppnow, T. Luderitz, U. Schade, et al., Chemical structure and biologic activity of bacterial and synthetic lipid A, Rev. Infect. Dis. 9 (Suppl 5) (1987) S527–S536.
- [120] J.R. Baldridge, R.T. Crane, Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) formulations for the next generation of vaccines, Methods 19 (1999) 103–107.
- [121] S. McCormack, A. Tilzey, A. Carmichael, F. Gotch, J. Kepple, A. Newberry, G. Jones, S. Lister, S. Beddows, R. Cheingsong, A. Rees, A. Babiker, J. Banatvala, C. Bruck, J. Darbyshire, D. Tyrrell, C. Van Hoecke, J. Weber, A phase I trial in HIV negative healthy volunteers evaluating the effect of potent adjuvants on immunogenicity of a recombinant gp120W61D derived from dual tropic R5X4 HIV-1ACH320, Vaccine 18 (2000) 1166–1177.

- [122] N. Garcon, M. Van Mechelen, M. Wettendorff, Development and evaluation of AS04, a novel and improved adjuvant system containing MPL and aluminum salt, in: V.E.J.C. Schijns, D.T. O'Hagan (Eds.), Immunopotentiators in Modern Vaccines, Academic Press, Burlington, MA, 2006, pp. 161–177.
- [123] M.S. Mitchell, J. Kan-Mitchell, R.A. Kempf, W. Harel, H. Shau, S. Lind, Active specific immunotherapy for melanoma: phase I trial of allogeneic lysates and a novel adjuvant, Cancer Res. 48 (1988) 5883–5893.
- [124] G.D. MacLean, M.B. Bowen-Yacyshyn, J. Samuel, A. Meikle, G. Stuart, J. Nation, S. Poppema, M. Jerry, R. Koganty, T. Wong, et al., Active immunization of human ovarian cancer patients against a common carcinoma (Thomsen–Friedenreich) determinant using a synthetic carbohydrate antigen, J. Immunother. 11 (1992) 292–305.
- [125] G.D. MacLean, M. Reddish, R.R. Koganty, T. Wong, S. Gandhi, M. Smolenski, J. Samuel, J.M. Nabholtz, B.M. Longenecker, Immunization of breast cancer patients using a synthetic sialyl-Tn glycoconjugate plus Detox adjuvant, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 36 (1993) 215–222.
- [126] J.T. Ulrich, K.R. Myers, Monophosphoryl lipid A as an adjuvant. Past experiences and new directions, Pharm. Biotechnol. 6 (1995) 495–524.
- [127] Q. He, A. Mitchell, T. Morcol, S.J.D. Bell, Calcium phosphate nanoparticles induce mucosal immunity and protection against herpes simplex virus type 2, Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol. 9 (2002) 1021–1024.
- [128] Q. He, A.R. Mitchell, S.L. Johnson, C. Wagner-Bartak, T. Morcol, S.J.D. Bell, Calcium phosphate nanoparticle adjuvant, Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol. 7 (2000) 899–903.
- [129] N. Goto, H. Kato, J.-i. Maeyama, K. Eto, S. Yoshihara, Studies on the toxicities of aluminium hydroxide and calcium phosphate as immunological adjuvants for vaccines, Vaccine 11 (1993) 914–918.
- [130] N. Goto, H. Kato, J.-i. Maeyama, M. Shibano, T. Saito, J. Yamaguchi, S. Yoshihara, Local tissue irritating effects and adjuvant activities of calcium phosphate and aluminium hydroxide with different physical properties, Vaccine 15 (1997) 1364–1371.
- [131] D. Jiang, G.S. Premachandra, C. Johnston, S.L. Hem, Structure and adsorption properties of commercial calcium phosphate adjuvant, Vaccine 23 (2004) 693–698.
- [132] BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Calcium Phosphate Nanoparticles (CAP), 2007 http://www.biosantepharma.com/products/cap.html.
- [133] BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Vaccine Adjuvants, 2007 http://www.biosantepharma.com/products/adjuvant.html.
- [134] J. Panyam, V. Labhasetwar, Biodegradable nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to cells and tissue, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 55 (2003) 329–347.
- [135] M.E. Lutsiak, G.S. Kwon, J. Samuel, Biodegradable nanoparticle delivery of a Th2-biased peptide for induction of Th1 immune responses, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 58 (2006) 739–747.
- [136] J. Wendorf, M. Singh, J. Chesko, J. Kazzaz, E. Soewanan, M. Ugozzoli, D. O'Hagan, A practical approach to the use of nanoparticles for vaccine delivery, J. Pharm. Sci. 95 (2006) 2738–2750.
- [137] T. Jung, W. Kamm, A. Breitenbach, K.-D. Hungerer, E. Hundt, T. Kissel, Tetanus toxoid loaded nanoparticles from sulfobutylated poly (vinyl alcohol)-graft-poly(lactide-coglycolide): evaluation of antibody response after oral and nasal application in mice, Pharm. Res. 18 (2001) 352–360.
- [138] L. Illum, Nanoparticulate systems for nasal delivery of drugs: a real improvement over simple systems? J. Pharm. Sci. 96 (2007) 473–483.
- [139] G. Duncan, T.J. Jess, F. Mohamed, N.C. Price, S.M. Kelly, C.F. van der Walle, The influence of protein solubilisation, conformation and size on the burst release from poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres, J. Control Release 110 (2005) 34–48.
- [140] R.J. Raghuvanshi, A. Mistra, G.P. Talwar, R.J. Levy, V. Labhasetwar, Enhanced immune response with a combination of alum and biodegradable nanoparticles containing tetanus toxoid, J. Microencapsul. 18 (2001) 723–732.
- [141] P. Elamanchili, M. Diwan, M. Cao, J. Samuel, Characterization of poly (D,L-lactic-coglycolic acid) based nanoparticulate system for enhanced delivery of antigens to dendritic cells, Vaccine 22 (2004) 2406–2412.
- [142] L. Zhang, G. Widera, S. Bleecher, D.A. Zaharoff, B. Mossop, D. Rabussay, Accelerated immune response to DNA vaccines, DNA Cell Biol. 22 (2003) 815–822.

- [143] L. Zhang, G. Widera, D. Rabussay, Enhancement of the effectiveness of electroporation augmented cutaneous DNA vaccination by a particulate adjuvant, Bioelectrochemistry 63 (2004) 369–373.
- [144] S.D. Patil, D.G. Rhodes, D.J. Burgess, DNA-based therapeutics and DNA delivery systems: a comprehensive review, AAPS J. 7 (2005) E61–E77.
- [145] D.M. Mahvi, F.S. Shi, N.S. Yang, S. Weber, J. Hank, M. Albertini, J. Schiller, H. Schalch, M. Larson, L. Pharo, J. Gan, D. Heisey, T. Warner, P.M. Sondel, Immunization by particle-mediated transfer of the granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor gene into autologous tumor cells in melanoma or sarcoma patients: report of a phase I/IB study, Hum. Gene Ther. 13 (2002) 1711–1721.
- [146] D.H. Fuller, P. Loudon, C. Schmaljohn, Preclinical and clinical progress of particle mediated DNA vaccines for infectious diseases, Methods 40 (2006) 86–97.
- [147] D. Luo, W.M. Saltzman, Synthetic DNA delivery systems, Nat. Biotech. 18 (2000) 33–37.
- [148] N. Yang, J. Burkholder, B. Roberts, B. Martinell, D. McCabe, In vivo and in vitro gene transfer to mammalian somatic cells by particle bombardment, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87 (1990) 9568–9572.
- [149] E.F. Fynan, R.G. Webster, D.H. Fuller, J.R. Haynes, J.C. Santoro, H.L. Robinson, DNA vaccines: protective immunizations by parenteral, mucosal, and gene-gun inoculations, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 90 (1993) 11478–11482.
- [150] C.R. Alving, B. Banerji, T. Shiba, S. Kotani, J.D. Clements, R.L. Richards, Liposomes as vehicles for vaccines, Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 47 (1980) 339–355.
- [151] C.R. Alving, Liposomes as carriers of antigens and adjuvants, J. Immunol. Methods 140 (1991) 1–13.
- [152] T. Nakanishi, J. Kunisawa, A. Hayashi, Y. Tsutsumi, K. Kubo, S. Nakagawa, M. Nakanishi, K. Tanaka, T. Mayumi, Positively charged liposome functions as an efficient immunoadjuvant in inducing cell-mediated immune response to soluble proteins, J. Control. Release 61 (1999) 233–240.
- [153] H.H. Guan, W. Budzynski, R.R. Koganty, M.J. Krantz, M.A. Reddish, J.A. Rogers, B.M. Longenecker, J. Samuel, Liposomal formulations of synthetic MUC1 peptides: effects of encapsulation versus surface display of peptides on immune responses, Bioconjug. Chem. 9 (1998) 451–458.
- [154] C. Butts, N. Murray, A. Maksymiuk, G. Goss, E. Marshall, D. Soulieres, Y. Cormier, P. Ellis, A. Price, R. Sawhney, M. Davis, J. Mansi, C. Smith, D. Vergidis, P. Ellis, M. MacNeil, M. Palmer, Randomized phase IIB trial of BLP25 liposome vaccine in stage IIIB and IV non-small-cell lung cancer, J. Clin. Oncol. 23 (2005) 6674–6681.
- [155] M. Palmer, J. Parker, S. Modi, C. Butts, M. Smylie, A. Meikle, M. Kehoe, G. MacLean, M. Longenecker, Phase I study of the BLP25 (MUC1 peptide) liposomal vaccine for active specific immunotherapy in stage IIIB/IV non-small-cell lung cancer, Clin. Lung Cancer 3 (2001) 49–57.
- [156] C. Choi, New Vaccine Against the Deadliest of All Cancers Teaches the Body to Defend Itself while Avoiding the Side Effects of More Traditional Therapies, 2006 ScientificAmerican.com.
- [157] N.V. Katre, Liposome-based depot injection technologies: how versatile are they? Amer. J. Drug Deliv. 2 (2004) 213–227.
- [158] C.R. Alving, Liposomal vaccines: clinical status and immunological presentation for humoral and cellular immunity, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 754 (1995) 143–152.
- [159] N. Meidenbauer, D.T. Harris, L.E. Spitler, T.L. Whiteside, Generation of PSA-reactive effector cells after vaccination with a PSA-based vaccine in patients with prostate cancer, Prostate 43 (2000) 88–100.
- [160] O.O. Bilukha, N. Rosenstein, Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), Morb. Mort. Wkly. Rep., Recomm. Rep. 54 (2005) 1–21.
- [161] R. Gluck, Immunopotentiating reconstituted influenza virosomes (IRIVs) and other adjuvants for improved presentation of small antigens, Vaccine 10 (1992) 915–919.
- [162] J.M. Langley, S.A. Halperin, S. McNeil, B. Smith, T. Jones, D. Burt, C.P. Mallett, G.H. Lowell, L. Fries, Safety and immunogenicity of a proteosome(TM)-trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine, given nasally to healthy adults, Vaccine 24 (2006) 1601–1608.

- [163] T. Jones, S. Cyr, F. Allard, N. Bellerose, G.H. Lowell, D.S. Burt, Protollin(TM): a novel adjuvant for intranasal vaccines, Vaccine 22 (2004) 3691–3697.
- [164] L.F. Fries, A.D. Montemarano, C.P. Mallett, D.N. Taylor, T.L. Hale, G.H. Lowell, Safety and immunogenicity of a proteosome-*Shigella flexneri* 2a lipopolysaccharide vaccine administered intranasally to healthy adults, Infect. Immun. 69 (2001) 4545–4553.
- [165] J. Treanor, C. Nolan, D. O'Brien, D. Burt, G. Lowell, J. Linden, L. Fries, Intranasal administration of a proteosome-influenza vaccine is welltolerated and induces serum and nasal secretion influenza antibodies in healthy human subjects, Vaccine 24 (2006) 254–262.
- [166] S.L. Cyr, T. Jones, I. Stoica-Popescu, D. Burt, B.J. Ward, C57BI/6 mice are protected from respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) challenge and IL-5 associated pulmonary eosinophilic infiltrates following intranasal immunization with Protollin-eRSV vaccine. Vaccine 25 (2007) 3228–3232.
- [167] T. Jones, J.J. Adamovicz, S.L. Cyr, C.R. Bolt, N. Bellerose, L.M. Pitt, G.H. Lowell, D.S. Burt, Intranasal Protollin(TM)/F1-V vaccine elicits respiratory and serum antibody responses and protects mice against lethal aerosolized plague infection, Vaccine 24 (2006) 1625–1632.
- [168] M. Plante, T. Jones, F. Allard, K. Torossian, J. Gauthier, N. St-Felix, G.L. White, G.H. Lowell, D.S. Burt, Nasal immunization with subunit proteosome influenza vaccines induces serum HAI, mucosal IgA and protection against influenza challenge, Vaccine 20 (2001) 218–225.
- [169] Form 10-Q for WYETH, Quarterly Report, Aug 7 2006 http://biz.yahoo. com/e/061106/wye10-q.html.
- [170] L.F. Bricks, E. Berezin, Impact of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on the prevention of invasive pneumococcal diseases, J. Pediatr. (Rio J) 82 (2006) S67–S74.
- [171] P.T. Heath, *Haemophilus influenzae* type b conjugate vaccines: a review of efficacy data, Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J. 17 (1998) S117–S122.
- [172] J. Aucouturier, L. Dupuis, S. Deville, S. Ascarateil, V. Ganne, Montanide ISA 720 and 51: a new generation of water in oil emulsions as adjuvants for human vaccines, Expert Rev. Vaccines 1 (2002) 111–118.
- [173] A.P. Miles, H.A. McClellan, K.M. Rausch, D. Zhu, M.D. Whitmore, S. Singh, L.B. Martin, Y. Wu, B.K. Giersing, A.W. Stowers, C.A. Long, A. Saul, Montanide(R) ISA 720 vaccines: quality control of emulsions, stability of formulated antigens, and comparative immunogenicity of vaccine formulations, Vaccine 23 (2005) 2530–2539.
- [174] G.W. Lawrence, A. Saul, A.J. Giddy, R. Kemp, D. Pye, Phase I trial in humans of an oilbased adjuvant SEPPIC MONTANIDE ISA 720, Vaccine 15 (1997) 176–178.
- [175] B. Genton, F. Al-Yaman, R. Anders, A. Saul, G. Brown, D. Pye, D.O. Irving, W.R.S. Briggs, A. Mai, M. Ginny, T. Adiguma, L. Rare, A. Giddy, R. Reber-Liske, D. Stuerchler, M.P. Alpers, Safety and immunogenicity of a three-component blood-stage malaria vaccine in adults living in an endemic area of Papua New Guinea, Vaccine 18 (2000) 2504–2511.
- [176] A.A. Scalzo, S.L. Elliott, J. Cox, J. Gardner, D.J. Moss, A. Suhrbier, Induction of protective cytotoxic T cells to murine cytomegalovirus by using a nonapeptide and a human-compatible adjuvant (Montanide ISA 720), J. Virol. 69 (1995) 1306–1309.
- [177] P. Hersey, S.W. Menzies, B. Coventry, T. Nguyen, M. Farrelly, S. Collins, D. Hirst, H. Johnson, Phase I/II study of immunotherapy with T-cell peptide epitopes in patients with stage IV melanoma, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 54 (2005) 208–218.
- [178] C. Hirunpetcharat, J. Wipasa, S. Sakkhachornphop, T. Nitkumhan, Y.Z. Zheng, S. Pichyangkul, A.M. Krieg, D.S. Walsh, D.G. Heppner, M.F. Good, CpG oligodeoxynucleotide enhances immunity against blood-stage malaria infection in mice parenterally immunized with a yeast-expressed 19 kDa carboxyl-terminal fragment of *Plasmodium yoelii* merozoite surface protein-1 (MSP119) formulated in oil-based Montanides, Vaccine 21 (2003) 2923–2932.
- [179] B.L. Perlaza, M. Arevalo-Herrera, K. Brahimi, G. Quintero, J.C. Palomino, H. Gras-Masse, A. Tartar, P. Druilhe, S. Herrera, Immunogenicity of four *Plasmodium falciparum* preerythrocytic antigens in *Aotus lemurinus* monkeys, Infect. Immun. 66 (1998) 3423–3428.
- [180] Y. Oka, A. Tsuboi, T. Taguchi, T. Osaki, T. Kyo, H. Nakajima, O.A. Elisseeva, Y. Oji, M. Kawakami, K. Ikegame, N. Hosen, S. Yoshihara, F. Wu, F. Fujiki, M. Murakami, T. Masuda, S. Nishida, T. Shirakata, S.-i.

Nakatsuka, A. Sasaki, K. Udaka, H. Dohy, K. Aozasa, S. Noguchi, I. Kawase, H. Sugiyama, Induction of WT1 (Wilms' tumor gene)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes by WT1 peptide vaccine and the resultant cancer regression, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 13885–13890.

- [181] G. Lawrence, Q. Cheng, C. Reed, D. Taylor, A. Stowers, N. Cloonan, C. Rzepczyk, A. Smillie, K. Anderson, D. Pombo, A. Allworth, D. Eisen, R. Anders, A. Saul, Effect of vaccination with 3 recombinant asexual-stage malaria antigens on initial growth rates of *Plasmodium falciparum* in non-immune volunteers, Vaccine 18 (2000) 1925–1931.
- [182] A. Saul, G. Lawrence, A. Smillie, C.M. Rzepczyk, C. Reed, D. Taylor, K. Anderson, A. Stowers, R. Kemp, A. Allworth, R.F. Anders, G.V. Brown, D. Pye, P. Schoofs, D.O. Irving, S.L. Dyer, G.C. Woodrow, W.R.S. Briggs, R. Reber, D. Sturchler, Human phase I vaccine trials of 3 recombinant asexual stage malaria antigens with Montanide ISA720 adjuvant, Vaccine 17 (1999) 3145–3159.
- [183] H. Toledo, A. Baly, O. Castro, S. Resik, J. Laferte, F. Rolo, L. Navea, L. Lobaina, O. Cruz, J. Miguez, T. Serrano, B. Sierra, L. Perez, M.E. Ricardo, M. Dubed, A.L. Lubian, M. Blanco, J.C. Millan, A. Ortega, E. Iglesias, E. Penton, Z. Martin, J. Perez, M. Diaz, C.A. Duarte, A phase I clinical trial of a multi-epitope polypeptide TAB9 combined with Montanide ISA 720 adjuvant in non-HIV-1 infected human volunteers, Vaccine 19 (2001) 4328–4336.
- [184] K.A. Chianese-Bullock, J. Pressley, C. Garbee, S. Hibbitts, C. Murphy, G. Yamshchikov, G.R. Petroni, E.A. Bissonette, P.Y. Neese, W.W. Grosh, P. Merrill, R. Fink, E.M.H. Woodson, C.J. Wiernasz, J.W. Patterson, C.L. Slingluff Jr., MAGE-A1-, MAGE-A10-, and gp100-derived peptides are immunogenic when combined with granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor and montanide ISA-51 adjuvant and administered as part of a multipeptide vaccine for melanoma, J. Immunol. 174 (2005) 3080–3086.
- [185] J.A. Lopez, C. Weilenman, R. Audran, M.A. Roggero, A. Bonelo, J.-M. Tiercy, F. Spertini, G. Corradin, A synthetic malaria vaccine elicits a potent CD8+ and CD4+ T lymphocyte immune response in humans. Implications for vaccination strategies, Eur. J. Immunol. 31 (2001) 1989–1998.
- [186] K. Akiyoshi, S. Kobayashi, S. Shichibe, D. Mix, M. Baudys, S. Wan Kim, J. Sunamoto, Self-assembled hydrogel nanoparticle of cholesterolbearing pullulan as a carrier of protein drugs: complexation and stabilization of insulin, J. Control. Release 54 (1998) 313–320.
- [187] E.-C. Kang, K. Akiyoshi, J. Sunamoto, Partition of polysaccharidecoated liposomes in aqueous two-phase systems, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 16 (1994) 348–353.
- [188] K. Hasegawa, Y. Noguchi, F. Koizumi, A. Uenaka, M. Tanaka, M. Shimono, H. Nakamura, H. Shiku, S. Gnjatic, R. Murphy, Y. Hiramatsu, L.J. Old, E. Nakayama, In vitro stimulation of CD8 and CD4 T cells by dendritic cells loaded with a complex of cholesterol-bearing hydrophobized pullulan and NY-ESO-1 protein: identification of a new HLA-DR15-binding CD4 T-cell epitope, Clin. Cancer Res. 12 (2006) 1921–1927.
- [189] T. Nishikawa, K. Akiyoshi, J. Sunamoto, Macromolecular complexation between bovine serum albumin and the self-assembled hydrogel nanoparticle of hydrophobized polysaccharides, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 118 (1996) 6110–6115.
- [190] R. Kawabata, H. Wada, M. Isobe, T. Saika, S. Sato, A. Uenaka, H. Miyata, T. Yasuda, Y. Doki, Y. Noguchi, H. Kumon, K. Tsuji, K. Iwatsuki, H. Shiku, G. Ritter, R. Murphy, E. Hoffman, L.J. Old, M. Monden, E. Nakayama, Antibody response against NY-ESO-1 in CHP-NY-ESO-1 vaccinated patients, Int. J. Cancer 120 (2007) 2178–2184.
- [191] X.-G. Gu, M. Schmitt, A. Hiasa, Y. Nagata, H. Ikeda, Y. Sasaki, K. Akiyoshi, J. Sunamoto, H. Nakamura, K. Kuribayashi, H. Shiku, A novel hydrophobized polysaccharide/oncoprotein complex vaccine induces in vitro and in vivo cellular and humoral immune responses against HER2-expressing murine sarcomas, Cancer Res. 58 (1998) 3385–3390.
- [192] Y. Ikuta, N. Katayama, L. Wang, T. Okugawa, Y. Takahashi, M. Schmitt, X. Gu, M. Watanabe, K. Akiyoshi, H. Nakamura, K. Kuribayashi, J. Sunamoto, H. Shiku, Presentation of a major histocompatibility complex class 1-binding peptide by monocyte-derived dendritic cells incorporating hydrophobized

polysaccharide-truncated HER2 protein complex: implications for a polyvalent immuno-cell therapy, Blood 99 (2002) 3717–3724.

- [193] P.J. Borm, W. Kreyling, Toxicological hazards of inhaled nanoparticlespotential implications for drug delivery, J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 4 (2004) 521–531.
- [194] The Royal Society, Nanoscience and Nanotechnologies: Opportunities and Uncertainties. Chapter 5. Possible Adverse Health, Environmental and Safety Aspects, 2004 http://www.royalsoc.ac.uk.
- [195] F. Auger, M.C. Gendron, C. Chamot, F. Marano, A.C. Dazy, Responses of well differentiated nasal epithelial cells exposed to particles: role of the epithelium in airway inflammation, Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 215 (2006) 285–294.